ORIGINAL.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Union County

J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 12 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

DOUGLAS HALL,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000712

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Trial counsel erred in making an untimely Batson¹ motion in petitioner's case, which the PCR judge ruled was arguably ineffective legal assistance, because the challenge to the seating of the juror in question was not raised until after the jury venirepersons had been dismissed.

¹ Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986)

STATEMENT

Douglas Hall was convicted of simple possession of crack cocaine, third offense, per jury trial held during the April 2010 term of the Union County General Sessions Court before Judge John C. Hayes, III. Petitioner was sentenced to imprisonment for a period of ten years. App. 1 – 309. Melinda Butler represented petitioner at trial and Assistant Solicitor John Anthony appeared on behalf of the state at trial. Petitioner appealed his conviction and sentence, but the appeal was subsequently dismissed.

On March 22, 2013, petitioner filed a PCR application with the Union County Office of the Clerk of Court. App. 310 – 320. The respondent filed a return dated June 26, 2013, requesting that a PCR hearing be held in response to petitioner's PCR action. App. 321 – 324.

A PCR hearing was convened on January 21, 2014, at the Union County Courthouse before Judge J. Michael Baxley. App. 376 – 377. Petitioner was present at the hearing and represented by Leah B. Moody, and Assistant Attorney General J. Rutledge Johnson appeared on behalf of the state. On March 6, 2014, Judge Baxley issued an Order of Dismissal therein denying petitioner's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel raised in the case. App. 379 – 389.

Petitioner appealed Judge Baxley's Order of Dismissal. This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel erred in making an untimely Batson² motion in petitioner's case, which the PCR judge ruled was arguably ineffective legal assistance, because the challenge to the seating of the juror in question was not raised until after the venirepersons had been dismissed.

At trial, Melvin DuBois testified that he met and talked with petitioner on May 18, 2009, in the town of Union, South Carolina, in order to purchase crack cocaine, and that he (DuBois) was stopped for questioning by Police Officer Sherfield after petitioner departed. DuBois stated that Officer Sherfield searched him and found crack cocaine on him, but promised not to press charges if he would arrange a drug buy from petitioner. DuBois agreed and met with petitioner later on that same day to purchase more crack cocaine. DuBois offered petitioner money for drugs, but before any transaction was completed, petitioner saw Officer Brian Bailey, who was assisting in the undercover drug buy in question, and fled. App. 118, l. 5 – p. 126, l. 18; App. 136, l. 8 – p. 145, l. 1.

Officer Brian Bailey stated that he gave chase and followed petitioner, and that during that time he saw petitioner's hands make a throwing motion, and that he found crack cocaine on the ground near that area (Hamlet Street). App. 175, l. 8 - p. 179, l. 4. Petitioner was arrested shortly thereafter.

Petitioner testified at trial and explained that he met with DuBois on the date in question to recover a debt (money) owed to him and that he did not meet with DuBois to sell crack cocaine. App. 222, l. 15 – p. 228, l. 17; App. 231, l. 14 – 16; App. 238, l. 1 – p. 240, l. 3. Petitioner's defense was that there was no intent to sell drugs to DuBois prior to the arrest. App. 362, lines 4-7.

² Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986)

After the jury was selected in this case, one juror was excused for medical reasons. App. 54, lines 3-24. Then, when alternate #74 was called as a substitute for placement on the petit jury panel, counsel argued that he should not occupy a seat on the petit jury since he was a white male with a gun conviction because Moore (#184), who was black, was struck from serving on the petit jury due to his prior conviction. App. 56, l. 24 – p. 58, l. 25; App. 364, l. 16 – p. 368, l. 12.

With respect to counsel's Batson motion regarding the seating of alternate juror #74 as a member of the petit jury, the trial judge in effect denied the motion on the following grounds:

Trial judge: Well, part of, part of the problem now is we don't have a jury to draw. We already let everybody go home...I find that the proper time to raise it has passed. The proper time to raise it was [during the initial Batson hearing]...[and that the matter was raised]... belatedly. App. 59, lines 1-7; App. 60, lines 4-24.

During the PCR hearing, petitioner testified in effect that trial counsel erred in the handling of the Batson motion made in the case. Petitioner explained that one black male (#184) was struck by the solicitor due to his prior DUS conviction, but that the solicitor failed to strike a white male (#74), who had a prior conviction (gun violation) also and was ultimately seated on the petit jury panel in his case. Petitioner added in effect that counsel did not bring the Batson issue to the trial judge's attention until juror #74 was pulled from his alternate status and placed on the petit jury panel, which was too late as the trial judge denied relief on the Batson motion on the ground that the matter was untimely raised since the venirepersons had already been dismissed. App. 343, l. 21 – p. 347, l. 14.

Trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing and explained that she presented a Batson challenge with respect to juror #184 (Terry Moore) and argued that he was struck by the solicitor on the basis of race. The solicitor responded that Moore was struck because his criminal record

contained a 1995 DUS conviction. Subsequently, the trial judge denied the Batson motion. App. 23, l. 3 – p. 25, l. 4; App. 26, l. 1 – 8.

The PCR judge ruled on the Batson issue as follows:

In the case, counsel made a Batson motion during [the] jury selection and the trial judge denied it. Later, when a juror was excused due to medical reasons, counsel challenged alternate # 74 being seated [on Batson grounds because]...a similarly situated juror had been struck during the selection process. The trial judge denied this challenge as untimely [and] this [PCR] Court finds that [petitioner] has failed to meet either prong of the Strickland test as to this allegation...[a]lthough counsel was arguably ineffective for not challenging Juror #74 during the [jury] selection process. Applicant provided no evidence whatsoever that he was prejudiced by the seating of Juror #74. App. 387.

A venireperson may not be struck from a seat on the petit jury on the basis of race or gender. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). If a party requests a Batson hearing based on discrimination with respect of the selection of the jury, then a hearing must be held in order for the non-moving party to articulate a reason (race-neutral) for the strike, and then a showing must follow to establish that the explanation was pretextual, and finally, the trial judge must rule on whether the explanation for the strike was race-neutral or pretextual in nature. See Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765 (1995). Pretext can be established by showing that similarly situated members of another race were seated on the jury. State v. Haigler, 334 S.C. 623, 515 S.E.2d 88 (1999).

Here, counsel made the case that juror #184 and juror # 74 were similarly situated as they were both males who had prior convictions, but yet Moore, who is black, was struck because of his prior, but juror number 74, who is white, was not struck when he also, like Moore, had a prior record. Therefore, the strike of juror #184 (Moore) was discriminatory. Counsel's Batson case regarding jurors #184 and #74 was well made, but not well-preserved since counsel's Batson

motion regarding the two jurors was not made until after the venirepersons had been dismissed. Thus, petitioner's Batson motion was neither ruled upon nor reviewed on appeal. This prejudiced petitioner's case. Moreover, the untimeliness of counsel's Batson motion prejudiced petitioner in that he was denied his right to a fair trial by a jury that was not discriminatorily selected to the extent that each venireperson had a right not to be excluded from the petit jury via the Fourteenth Amendment Equal Protection Clause. More specifically, petitioner had a right not to have juror #184 excluded from the petit jury in his case, or in the alternate to have juror #74 struck from the jury in the case.

Many courts require that Batson challenges must be raised before the venirepersons are dismissed. United States v. Parham, 16 F3d 844 (8th Cir. 1994). Hence, petitioner's Batson issue was not entertained at trial or on appeal due to counsel's failure to raise the Batson issue in question in a timely manner. Counsel's error with respect to the untimeliness in raising this Batson motion constituted performance below the level of competence required of criminal attorneys per the Sixth Amendment (See also Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)), such that but for the error, a reasonable probability exists that petitioner's trial might have ended differently.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument, petitioner requests that this Court grant the petition and allow full briefing on the issue raised above.