STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

MAR - 4 2015

CERTIORARI TO YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**S.C. Supreme Court**

The Honorable J. Michael Baxley, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2014-000712

Douglas Hall.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina.....Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. RUTLEDGE JOHNSON  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar # 78871

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the PCR court properly hold that, while Counsel was arguably ineffective for failing to file a timely Batson motion, Petitioner failed to provide any credible evidence that the juror was impartial or any resulting prejudice from Counsel's alleged error, especially in the light of overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Douglas Hall, (Petitioner), was indicted at the August 2010 term of the Union County Grand Jury for possession of crack cocaine with intent to distribute (2010-GS-44-0887). Petitioner was represented by Melinda Butler, Esquire. On April 6, 2011, Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial pursuant to which he was found guilty of simple possession of crack cocaine as a lesser included offense. The Honorable John C. Hayes, III sentenced Petitioner to confinement for ten (10) years for possession of crack cocaine, 3<sup>rd</sup> offense. Petitioner appealed his conviction and sentence, but the South Carolina Court of Appeals dismissed pursuant to Petitioner withdrawing his appeal.

Petitioner filed his application for Post-Conviction Relief (PCR) on March 22, 2013 (2013-CP-44-0095). Respondent made its Return and Motion to Dismiss on June 26, 2013. An evidentiary hearing was subsequently convened at the Moss Justice Center in York County, South Carolina on January 21, 2014. Petitioner was present and was represented by Leah Moody, Esquire. J. Rutledge Johnson, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented the Respondent. The Honorable J. Michael Baxley denied and dismissed the Petitioner's application by written Order on March 6, 2014.

A timely notice of appeal from the Order of Dismissal was filed on Petitioner's behalf. Petitioner subsequently filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on November 12, 2014. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for reviewing a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a PCR proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR court properly held, while Counsel was arguably ineffective for failing to file a timely Batson motion, Petitioner failed to provide any credible evidence that the juror was impartial or any resulting prejudice from Counsel's alleged error, especially in the light of overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt.

Petitioner asserts "[t]rial counsel erred in making an untimely Batson in petitioner's case, which the PCR judge ruled was arguably ineffective legal assistance, because the challenge to the seating of the juror in question was not raised until the venirepersons had been dismissed." This argument is without merit. Further, Petitioner has failed to show any resulting prejudice from counsel's alleged ineffective assistance.

In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that "Counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984).

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that Counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Id. Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, Petitioner must prove that Counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney

performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, (citing Strickland). Second, Counsel’s deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Additionally, “this Court has held that a criminal defendant has no right to a trial by any particular jury, but only a right to a trial by a competent and impartial jury.” Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 517, 511 S.E.2d 62, 68 (1999). In PCR, the Petitioner must provide credible evidence that Counsel’s failure to strike a juror prejudiced the defense. Magazine v. State, 361 S.C. 610, 606 S.E.2d 761 (2004). Where there is overwhelming evidence of guilt, a trial counsel’s deficient representation will not be prejudicial. See Ford v. State, 314 S.C. 245, 442 S.E.2d 604 (1994); See also Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001); Geter v. State 305 S.C. 365, 409 S.E.2d 344 (1991).

Further, “[t]his Court gives great deference to the post-conviction relief (PCR) court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law.” Smith v. State, 375 S.C. 507, 515, 654 S.E.2d 523, 528 (2007) (quoting Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005)).

At the PCR hearing, Counsel testified she challenged Juror #74 because the State had struck a similarly situated black male but did not strike a similarly situated white male. (App. p. 365-366). Counsel also stated she reviewed her notes over the lunch break and realized the two jurors were more alike than previously thought. (App. p. 365). Counsel admitted that the trial judge explained her motion was not timely made. (App. p. 366). However, Petitioner failed to

present any witnesses to state that Juror #74 was biased or prejudicial to Petitioner's case. In fact, the PCR court stated:

Mr Hall, to be successful at PCR you have to prove two things. Number one, that your lawyer as was said earlier today, your lawyer's performance was below the standard that we require lawyers practicing criminal law in South Carolina. So in other words that her performance was deficient, and not or, and number two, that by that poor performance you were prejudiced. And prejudice has been defined by our Supreme Court to mean that but for your lawyer's poor performance the outcome of the trial would have been different. That's the standard that you have to meet and I will say to you, Mr. Hall, respectfully I find that you have failed to meet either prong of proof. I will say you(sic) there is some question about whether or not your lawyer made a timely Batson motion and the Court does accept the fact the judge, Judge Hayes perceived that the the(sic) motion came too late. But the Court finds there has been absolutely no showing of prejudice on that specific point because there is no evidence before this Court that one juror would have supported you versus another juror that would have opposed you. That is speculation at best. There is no on(sic) evidence in the record to support prejudice on that point and so, while I find that there generally is not a deficient performance the Court realizes there may be an exception on that point, but that there is no prejudice to it.

(App. p. 373 line 13- p. 374 line 14).

The PCR court then held in its Order:

This Court finds that Petitioner has failed to meet either prong of the Strickland test as to this allegation. Although Counsel was arguably ineffective for not challenging Juror #74 during the selection process, Petitioner provided no evidence whatsoever that he was prejudiced by the seating of Juror #74. It was not until the medically-excused juror was excused from the trial that Juror #74 was even going to be part of the jury. As such, Counsel had no initial reason to strike him. Only until the prior juror was excused did Counsel bring this challenge to the Court's attention. Nevertheless, Petitioner presented no testimony or other evidence showing but for Juror #74 being seated on the jury, the outcome of Petitioner's trial would have been different.

Petitioner is entitled to a fair and impartial jury, not a perfect one. Petitioner provided no evidence that these jurors were anything but fair and impartial. Additionally, all twelve jurors agreed that Petitioner was guilty of possessing crack cocaine. As jurors are presumed to follow the law as given by the judge, Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proving resulting prejudice.

(App. p. 387).

Further, the PCR court found there was overwhelming evidence of guilty in Petitioner's case. (App. pp. 387-388).

Respondent submits the PCR court correctly found Petitioner failed to produce any credible evidence that Juror #74 prejudiced his case. Additionally, Petitioner failed to show that but for Counsel's failure to timely strike Juror #74, the outcome of his case would have been different. There were eleven other jurors that found him guilty. Further, Petitioner admitted at trial that he possessed crack cocaine and had sold crack cocaine to the confidential informant earlier that same day. (App. p. 225; p. 232). Clearly, there is overwhelming evidence of Petitioner's guilt in this case. Therefore, Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of establishing any resulting prejudice from Counsel's alleged deficiency. Thus, sufficient evidence exists to affirm the PCR court's order.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.